IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

10/18/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA
Case Number: DA 23-0147

No. DA 23-0147

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ALEXANDER GARRETT LAFORGE III,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court,
Yellowstone County, the Honorable Donald Harris, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
GREGORY HOOD
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
Gregory.Hood@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I.** The district court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel despite a complete breakdown in communication.
- II.** The district court erred when it denied Mr. LaForge's cautionary jury instruction for Kristi Alden, an incentivized witness who provided testimony crucial to the conviction.
- III.** The district court erred when it granted the State's restitution request for lost profits for the victim's parents' business despite insufficient evidence of actual losses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alexander LaForge was convicted of deliberate homicide after a four-day jury trial, sentenced to 100 years in prison with a ten-year consecutive weapons enhancement, ordered over objection to pay \$80,361 restitution, and was granted an out-of-time appeal. 5/23/22 Sentencing Hearing at 78-79 (attached as Appendix A); Order granting out of time appeal (March 7, 2023)(attached as Appendix B); D.C. Doc. 98 (attached as Appendix C). Mr. LaForge appeals the award of lost income restitution in the amount of \$72,000, the denial of his motion to

substitute counsel and the denial of his proposed jury instruction to view the testimony of an incentivized co-defendant with distrust.

10/1/21 Hrg. at 18-19 (attached as Appendix D); 10/6/21 Hrg. at 132 (attached as Appendix E).

FACTS OF THE CASE

On April 27, 2020, Brett Ness was killed by a single gunshot to the head on the porch of his residence. A police investigation determined that Mr. Ness sold methamphetamine to Jackie Medicine Horse a few days prior, and eight people arrived at Mr. Ness's residence in two cars on the afternoon of the shooting to address a dispute over the transaction. On June 18, 2020, the State charged Mr. LaForge with deliberate homicide for Mr. Ness's death. D.C. Doc. 3. For the next fifteen months, while Mr. LaForge was in custody, the case languished.

COUNSEL REQUESTS

On December 11, 2020, about six months after the Information was filed, the district court held a status conference where counsel for Mr. LaForge indicated that he had had no communication with Mr. LaForge since September 23, 2020. 12/11/20 Hrg. at 2. At the State's request, the court set a hearing to inquire into the status of the

attorney-client relationship. 12/11/20 Hrg. at 3. The court held a hearing three days later (the State was excluded from the hearing) where counsel and Mr. LaForge both testified about their relationship. 12/14/20 Hrg. In that hearing the court found that Mr. LaForge's complaints were not seemingly substantial but granted the request for new counsel anyway. 12/14/20 Hrg. at 38-39. One week later, Mr. LaForge was assigned new counsel. D.C. Doc. 25. On January 13, 2021 the court held a scheduling conference where trial dates were set. 1/13/21 Hrg.

For the next six months the record went silent: no documents were filed by either party and no substantive hearings held. On July 21, 2021, over a year into the proceedings, counsel for Mr. LaForge hastily filed the Omnibus form when it became apparent that the parties thought the Omnibus had been completed by prior counsel when in fact it had not been. D.C. Docs. 31, 32. Because of the late Omnibus filing, the court reset the trial date from August 9, 2021 to October 4, 2021. D.C. Docs. 28, 31.

Then, just three days before Mr. LaForge's deliberate homicide trial was to begin, the district court convened an unscheduled hearing

at the State's request. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 3. The State had been surveilling Mr. LaForge's jail calls and had intercepted a conversation that indicated Mr. LaForge's dissatisfaction with his appointed counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 3. The purpose of the hearing was to preemptively inquire into Mr. LaForge's complaints about his counsel.

At the State's requested hearing, Mr. LaForge expressed his desire for new counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 5. The State argued that the request was merely a "stall tactic" to delay the trial—even though Mr. LaForge had not requested this hearing. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 5. After excusing the State from the proceeding, the court took testimony from Mr. LaForge and his counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 6.

Mr. LaForge revealed an almost complete lack of communication with his assigned counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 11. Mr. LaForge testified that he had met with counsel a total of just *two times* during the entire year counsel had represented him and had met with the investigator only two times as well and expressed concern over the lack of communication in general. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 12. Mr. LaForge also testified about specific concerns he had regarding the legality of his arrest and finding and interviewing witnesses—issues he was never

able to raise with his attorney because of their lack of communication about the case. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 7-11. Counsel answered the judge's questions about the specific witnesses and concerns over the arrest and said that he could provide effective assistance of counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 16-17. Counsel never rebutted Mr. LaForge's assertion that they had only met twice in preparation for his homicide trial.

The court denied Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 18-19.

JURY INSTRUCTION REQUEST

Kristy Alden pleaded guilty to crimes stemming from the death of Mr. Ness and received consideration for her testimony in Mr. LaForge's case. 10/5/21 Hrg. at 188. She provided crucial testimony at trial.

Ms. Alden testified that Mr. LaForge told her the group was going to a house to "collect." 10/5/21 Hrg. at 174-175. She testified that Mr. LaForge lead the group when they arrived at Mr. Ness's house, telling her to stop the car. 10/5/21 Hrg. at 176. She testified that Mr. LaForge was the one who shot Mr. Ness and that Mr. LaForge admitted it to her: "He's dead I fucking killed him." 10/5/21 Hrg. at 181. She also testified that Mr. LaForge threatened to kill both her and another individual if

they were to tell anyone that he killed Mr. Ness. 10/5/21 Hrg. at 187.

She also testified that Mr. LaForge told her to get rid of her car by having it crushed to prevent being found by the police. 10/5/21 Hrg. at 188.

Mr. LaForge proposed the following jury instruction:

Testimony of an accomplice or co-defendant. You have heard testimony from Kristy Alden, Raisha Blacksmith and James Fisher who are co-defendants and Garrett Door, Kally Ellsworth and Jaqueline Medicine Horse who are accomplices. Their testimony was given in exchange for promises by the government that they either would not be prosecuted or would receive favorable treatment in their individual cases. Their guilty plea is not evidence against Mr. Laforge and you may consider it only in determining that witness's believability. For those reasons, in evaluating the testimony of Kisty Alden, Raisha Blacksmith, James Fisher, Garrett Door, Kally Ellsworth and Jaqueline Medicine Horse, you should consider the extent to which their testimony may have been influenced by this factor. In addition, you should examine the testimony of Kisty Alden, Raisha

Blacksmith, James Fisher, Garrett Door, Kally Ellsworth and Jacqueline Medicine Horse with greater caution than that of other witnesses.

D.C. Doc. 55.

During the settling of the jury instructions after the close of evidence, Mr. LaForge agreed that the names of Garrett Door, Kally Ellsworth, and Jacqueline Medicinehorse should be deleted as there had not been sufficient evidence that those individuals were accomplices.

10/6/21 Hrg. at 131. His requested jury instruction then included only the co-defendants Kristy Alden, Raisha Blacksmith and James Fisher.

The State objected to it on the basis that determining whether a witness is accountable is solely within the province of the jury and to instruct the jury as requested would invade the jury's province. 10/6/21 Hrg. at 129. The State also argued that the instructions already given adequately covered the subject of witness credibility. 10/6/21 Hrg. at 129.

The court denied the instruction on the basis that the issue of witness credibility was adequately covered in the existing instructions and that "it would be improper for the Judge to invade the province of

the jury by instructing them to view certain witness testimony with greater caution, given that they are, under Montana law, the sole judges of witness credibility.” 10/6/21 Hrg. at 132; D.C. Doc. 65.02. The court did give one cautionary instruction that addressed Fisher’s testimony but did not explain its rationale why such an instruction was proper and one pertaining to Ms. Alden was not. D.C. Doc. 65.03 (Jury Instruction 15).

RESTITUTION ORDER

During the sentencing hearing, the State requested the court order \$80,361 in restitution. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 15. Mr. LaForge did not object to \$4,861 in restitution for funeral and burial expenses or \$3,500 to the victim’s compensation fund. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 25. Mr. LaForge did, however, object to the \$72,000 request for lost income. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 26.

Anita Ness, the victim’s mom, testified in support of the \$72,000 request for lost income. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 15-26. She testified that Mr. Ness had been a foreman in their family business of restoring log homes and that the business had had to either reschedule or cancel “three or four” jobs as a result of the death of Mr. Ness. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 15-16.

She could not recall the basis for the amount she requested. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 16. She testified that the business would have to hire and train a new foreman. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 16. She testified that no one had made any effort to hire a replacement foreman for Mr. Ness despite his death having been 25 months prior. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 24.

Mr. LaForge objected to the \$72,000 request on the basis that it lacked supporting evidence. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 26. Ms. Ness had trouble recalling whether it was three or four jobs that the company had to cancel and could not recall the “figure” she used to calculate the amount she requested. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 16. She verified that she had no documentation showing the cancelled jobs or refunded deposits of money. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 20-21. She verified that the company suffered no out-of-pocket expenses related to this case. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 21. When asked whether any of the cancelled jobs had been re-ordered, she did not know. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 21. In fact, her entire basis for the request was that the company had to “reschedule or get cancelled” “like three or four jobs.” 5/23/22 Hrg. at 16. She later responded affirmatively to a leading question from the State that the number was based on “at least four jobs that you had to have rescheduled.” 5/23/22

Hrg. at 16. She was unable to clarify whether the jobs were cancelled or rescheduled. She testified that the current employees of the company could have done the work with some additional training and that training was done in-house and did not cost the company out-of-pocket expense. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 23, 24.

Over Mr. LaForge's objection, the court ordered him to pay the full amount of restitution requested. 5/23/22 Hrg. at 77-79; D.C. Doc. 98.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews substitute counsel requests for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Johnson*, 2019 MT 34, ¶ 13, 394 Mont. 245, 435 P.3d 64.

The Court reviews claims of instructional error to determine whether the jury instructions, as a whole, fully and fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case. *State v. DuBray*, 2003 MT 255, ¶ 88, 317 Mont. 377, 77 P.3d 247.

“Restitution awards are mixed questions of law and fact that this Court reviews *de novo*.” *State v. Holmes*. ¶ 6, 415 Mont. 528, 545 P.3d 57 (citing *State v. Arthun*, 2023 MT 214, ¶ 11, 414 Mont. 54, 538 P.3d 858). This Court reviews the decision to award restitution for

correctness and whether the district court's factual findings regarding the amount awarded were clearly erroneous. *Holmes*, ¶ 6 (citing *State v. Cleveland*, 2018 MT 199, ¶ 7, 392 Mont. 338, 423 P.3d 1074). "Such findings are clearly erroneous, *inter alia*, if not supported by substantial evidence." *State v. Coluccio*, 2009 MT 273, ¶ 40, 352 Mont. 122, 214 P.3d 1282 (overruled on other grounds).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it denied Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel. The State requested a hearing after surveilling Mr. LaForge's jail call. Mr. LaForge clearly articulated in the hearing that, despite his homicide trial set to begin in just three days, his attorney had only met with him two times in the year of representation. Counsel mischaracterized Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel as a possible request for a continuance and then, when prompted by the court twice, failed to even request the continuance to review hundreds of pages of discovery that had just been disclosed days before the trial was to begin. Counsel did not deny that there had been a complete breakdown of communication between he and Mr. LaForge.

The district court erred again when it denied Mr. LaForge’s request for a cautionary jury instruction for Kristy Alden¹. Ms. Alden provided the most stark and damaging evidence the State had: that Mr. LaForge said, ““He’s dead I fucking killed him.” Ms. Alden agreed to testify in return for a favorable plea agreement for the crimes she committed while with Mr. LaForge. Such incentivized testimony warranted an instruction to the jury to examine that testimony with greater caution than that of ordinary witnesses. Ms. Alden’s testimony was crucial to the State’s case: she testified that Mr. LaForge was the “ringleader,” that he twice admitted to her that he killed Mr. Ness, and that he threatened the others present with violence if they told anyone. She was the only witness to specifically attribute to Mr. LaForge the quote, “He’s dead I fucking killed him.”

The district court also erred by awarding the full amount of restitution requested when the victim’s claims lack substantial evidence. Although \$72,000 was claimed as lost income for the Ness’s log home restoration business, no affidavit or documentation

¹ Mr. LaForge does not appeal the failure to issue a cautionary instruction for any other of the incentivized witnesses.

accompanied the request. In her testimony, she could not remember how she calculated the number. She said the jobs may have been rescheduled rather than cancelled and did not explain how rescheduling jobs would cost the company \$72,000. She was unable to provide any basis for the request and admitted that the company had not even begun to try to stem the claimed losses after 25 months. The evidence of losses was inadequate to sustain a \$72,000 restitution award.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel.

Mr. LaForge and his counsel suffered a complete breakdown in communication. Despite the homicide trial beginning in just three days, counsel had met with Mr. LaForge a total of only two times over ten months of representation and counsel inexplicably failed to request a needed continuance even after it became apparent that Mr. LaForge desired it, it was necessary due to a crushingly large discovery disclosure the week of trial, and the judge signaled his agreement.

Defendants have a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Constitution amendment VI; Montana Constitution article II, § 24. While defendants do not have the right to choose

particular counsel, they are entitled to effective representation. So, when a breakdown of the attorney-client relationship is severe enough to prevent effective representation, a right to substitute counsel arises. *Johnson*, ¶ 18. Defendants are entitled to substitute counsel upon presenting facts that show: “(1) an actual conflict of interest; (2) an irreconcilable conflict between counsel and the defendant; or (3) a complete breakdown in communication between counsel and the defendant.” *Johnson*, ¶ 19.

Trial courts must conduct an “adequate initial inquiry” upon a request for substitution counsel to determine whether the complaints are “seemingly substantial.” *Johnson*, ¶ 21. An “adequate initial inquiry” is one where the judge thoroughly inquires into the factual basis of the complaint. *Johnson*, ¶ 21. After “consider[ing] a defendant’s factual complaints together with counsel’s specific explanations addressing the complaints,” trial courts must subsequently conduct a hearing if the complaints are seemingly substantial. *Johnson*, ¶ 22.

Mr. LaForge and his counsel suffered a complete breakdown in communication. On 12/21/20, counsel assumed responsibility for

representing Mr. LaForge and after a routine scheduling conference, the record went silent for six months. D.C. Doc. 25. It was not until July 21, 2021 that anything happened on the record and when it finally did, it was to hold a delinquent omnibus hearing that neither party, nor apparently the district court, knew had been forgotten. D.C. Docs. 31, 32. The oversight by the court and parties forced the district court to continue the trial date to comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-110. D.C. Docs. 28, 31.

Three days before the rescheduled trial date the State requested a hearing and revealed that they had been surveilling Mr. LaForge's calls from the jail and wished to address Mr. LaForge's relationship with his new assigned counsel based on what they heard. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 3. At the hearing Mr. LaForge immediately cited a lack of communication as a problem and made clear that he had met with his new counsel only two times in the previous ten months of representation. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 4, 12.

Counsel never denied Mr. LaForge's claims of a complete breakdown in communications. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 12. While asserting that he could continue as effective counsel, he never specifically

addressed (and the judge never asked specifically) how many times he met with Mr. LaForge during the previous ten months. Notably, Mr. LaForge never wavered from and counsel never denied Mr. LaForge's assertion that there was a complete breakdown in communication. This breakdown in communication became even more manifest once the need for a continuance was disclosed to the court.

Counsel told the court that Mr. LaForge might be requesting a continuance rather than new counsel to review lengthy discovery that had just been disclosed. Oddly, counsel then failed to actually ask for the continuance even though the judge indicated a willingness to grant one had *counsel* requested it. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 20. Counsel indicated to the court that Mr. LaForge would be justified in requesting a continuance given the large volume of discovery that had just been disclosed, and the court twice gave counsel the opportunity to request one but inexplicably counsel never did. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 20-21. Counsel explained to the court that "we have been inundated this week with new transcripts and such and it is fairly overwhelming. Mr. LaForge is not going to have, in my opinion, sufficient time to read each one of those." 10/1/21 Hrg. at 16. Counsel admitted upon questioning by the

judge that he had not even read the discovery that had recently been disclosed even though trial was about to begin. 10/1/21 Hrg. at 16.

Counsel also undermined Mr. LaForge's request for new counsel, explaining (without any basis on which to do so) that Mr. LaForge's request was not really for new counsel but instead for a continuance (which counsel did not even request):

Alex is right. There's approximately close to 300 pages of transcripts to read, and I can't tell the Court what's in those yet because I haven't read them. I know that it would make Mr. ---I don't think Mr. LaForge is necessarily unhappy with me. He's unhappy with the fact these things are coming late in the game, and they are concerning; and briefly flipping through them, it does change the tenor of the case for us... Mr. LaForge, maybe instead of just asking for a change of counsel, he may be asking for an additional couple of weeks to prepare for this. I don't think that's an unreasonable request on Mr. LaForge's part.

10/1/21 Hrg. at 20.

The judge made it abundantly clear that he would consider a motion to continue through counsel, but counsel inexplicably withheld any motion or request:

Court: Well, I'm not going to entertain a request from Mr. LaForge. I will entertain a request from you [counsel], but that request has not been made yet, so it's not in front of me at this time.

Mr. Merchant: I understand, Your Honor.

Court: So I'm not going to rule on a request that hasn't been made through counsel.

Mr. Merchant: Fair enough.

10/1/21 Hrg. at 21.

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