#### 03/07/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0147

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0147

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

#### ALEXANDER GARRETT LAFORGE III,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, The Honorable Donald Harris, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General KATIE F. SCHULZ Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 kschulz@mt.gov

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it did not assign new counsel following LaForge's complaint about his second appointed counsel. The court conducted a hearing where LaForge voiced all of his concerns. Merchant provided thorough responses and assured the court and LaForge that despite recently receiving witness interviews, he was confident he could provide effective representation. Neither LaForge nor Merchant described a complete breakdown in their ability to communicate. The court correctly determined that none of LaForge's complaints met any of the threshold grounds establishing a substantial complaint for appointment of new counsel.

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it provided the pattern instructions on credibility and declined to give LaForge's instruction directing jurors to view codefendants' witness testimony with "greater caution" than other witnesses. This proposed instruction was unnecessary, and in some ways contrary to the other instructions. The jury was provided with the general witness credibility instructions that direct jurors to carefully consider all witness testimony, including any possible motive they may have had to testify. They were further instructed to view James's testimony with distrust if they determined he was legally accountable and directed to view Kristy's testimony about LaForge's unrecorded admissions/confessions "with caution." The jury was fully and fairly

instructed on the applicable law. Yet, even if the court erred by rejecting LaForge's cautionary instruction, it was not reversible error since, given the breadth of strength of the evidence supporting the jury's verdict, LaForge's substantial rights were not prejudiced.

Finally, the district court did not err when it ordered LaForge to pay restitution for lost income suffered by the victim's family business. The district court's findings that relied upon the victim's mother's testimony were not clearly erroneous as she had firsthand knowledge about the work Brett had done for the family business and the jobs that had to be canceled when he was killed.

Regardless, even if this Court finds there was insufficient evidence to support the court's restitution award, the remedy is to remand this matter to the district court to determine the proper amount of restitution.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The district court did not abuse its discretion by not assigning new counsel after considering LaForge's complaints about Merchant.

#### A. Relevant facts

On September 30, 2021, during a recorded jail call, LaForge said he wanted Merchant off the case and that on the first day of his trial, he planned to tell the court that Merchant was not prepared for trial. (10/1/21 Tr.) The State brought this issue to Merchant's attention and the court conducted an emergency hearing

the next day. (*Id.*) LaForge eventually replied "yes" to the court's repeated direct question of whether he was requesting new counsel. (*Id.* at 4-5.) The court cleared the courtroom and conducted a thorough inquiry into LaForge's grievances. (*Id.* at 7-12.)

LaForge expressed vague displeasure with Merchant concerning the following topics: (1) failure to assert a jurisdictional claim related to his arrest; (2) failing to prepare for witnesses (*i.e.*, getting witness statements shortly before trial, not doing adequate witness interviews, not calling witnesses on his behalf); (3) alleged incomplete discovery of LaForge's Facebook records; and (4) lacking communication and missed appointments. (10/1/21 Tr. at 7-12.) At no time did LaForge assert a complete breakdown in communication with Merchant. (*Id.*)

The court then asked Merchant to address each of LaForge's issues. (*Id.* at 12-17.) Merchant explained that: (1) there was no meritorious jurisdictional claim to raise; (2)(a) he had deposed Dr. Kurtzman, tried to get a statement from H.P. (but he invoked the Fifth Amendment), and had just received copies of Kristy's statement because she only recently pled guilty; (2)(b) Merchant was confident there were no material witnesses whom he did not interview; (2)(c) other than the defendant, there were no additional favorable witnesses for the defense; (3) he was confident all relevant records had been disclosed in discovery and copies of all the Facebook records were provided to LaForge; and (4) he disagreed that he had

missed appointments with LaForge and believed he had "met sufficiently with Mr. LaForge to be able to provide effective assistance of counsel," although LaForge may not have "complete faith" in him. (*Id.*) Merchant explained that he had recently been "inundated" with new interview transcripts which was "fairly overwhelming" and would require him to read them over the weekend. (*Id.* at 16.) Merchant candidly stated that LaForge would not have time to read all the transcripts, but Merchant did not, as LaForge argues on appeal (*see* Opening Brief (Br.) at 18), state he did not have time to read the material. (*Id.*) After responding to LaForge's complaints, Merchant assured the court that he was confident he could provide effective assistance of counsel. (*Id.* at 17.)

The court gave LaForge an opportunity to respond to Merchant's explanations, but he only complained again about getting long witness statements late. (*Id.* at 17-18.) The court concluded that, following its inquiry, LaForge had not demonstrated any substantial basis for a new attorney to be appointed. (*Id.*)

The court addressed LaForge and explained that if after reading the recently received materials Merchant determined that he needed more time, he would file a motion to continue. (*Id.*) The court added that Merchant was "very experienced [and] a very, very good lawyer," and if Merchant brought a motion to continue, the court would consider it "very carefully." (*Id.* at 19.) Merchant again addressed the transcripts they just received and explained that he did not think LaForge was

"necessarily unhappy with me," but opined he may be asking for additional time to review the materials. (*Id.* at 20.) The court reiterated that it would entertain a motion to continue from Merchant, but not LaForge. (*Id.* at 21.) Merchant did not seek a continuance and was prepared for trial on October 4. (JT-1.)

B. The district court engaged in meaningful consideration of LaForge's concerns and did not abuse its discretion when it concluded LaForge had not raised "seemingly substantial complaints" about Merchant.

Criminal defendants have a fundamental right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Mont. Const. art. II, § 24; *Johnson*, ¶ 17; *State v. Dillingham*, 2020 MT 310, ¶ 14, 402 Mont. 239, 477 P.3d 328. However, a defendant is not entitled to counsel of his choice or to a meaningful relationship with counsel, but is entitled to counsel that mounts an adequate defense. *State v. Khongwiset*, 2020 MT 215, ¶ 26, 401 Mont. 142, 471 P.3d 51.

When a defendant asks the court for new counsel, the court must first conduct "an adequate initial inquiry to determine whether the defendant's complaints are seemingly substantial." DeWise, ¶ 26.

LaForge does not assert the district court's inquiry was inadequate. (Br. at 13-19.) LaForge argues that the district court abused its discretion when it concluded he had not raised seemingly substantial concerns to warrant new counsel being assigned.

"A defendant may not demand substitute counsel simply because he lacks confidence in, or does not approve of, his counsel; he only has the right to substitute counsel in a few instances." *Johnson*, ¶ 14 (citations omitted). A defendant may be entitled to new counsel "only when a breakdown of the attorney-client relationship becomes of such a nature that the principal purpose of the appointment—to provide effective assistance—is frustrated." *Khongwiset*, ¶ 26 (citing *Johnson*, ¶ 18). To demonstrate such a state of frustration, the defendant must "present[] material facts showing good cause for the substitution, demonstrating either (1) an actual conflict of interest; (2) an irreconcilable conflict between counsel and the defendant; or (3) a complete breakdown in communication between counsel and the defendant." *Khongwiset*, ¶ 26 (citing *Johnson*, ¶ 19).

LaForge does not argue that he and Merchant had an irreconcilable conflict or actual conflict of interest. Thus, LaForge must show that the district court abused its discretion by not finding he and Merchant had a complete breakdown in communication. That is, that their communication was so compromised that mounting a defense was impossible. LaForge did not meet this burden.

The record does not at all support that he and Merchant suffered a complete breakdown in communication. At most, the concerns LaForge voiced amounted to his lack of confidence in Merchant being able to review the evidence and prepare

for trial. However, despite the recent discovery coming in, Merchant assured the court he was confident he could effectively represent LaForge. LaForge offered no evidence to the contrary and simply pointed to his concern with the recently received transcripts. "[A]s long as appointed counsel is rendering effective assistance, a defendant may not demand dismissal or substitution of counsel simply because he or she lacks confidence in, or does not approve of, his or her appointed counsel." *State v. Dethman*, 2010 MT 268, ¶ 15, 358 Mont. 384, 245 P.3d 30.

See also Dillingham, supra (defendant's expressed lack of confidence in counsel insufficient to constitute substantial complaint).

The circumstances presented here are similar to DeWise, where the defendant expressed a "general belief that counsel provided ineffective assistance" based on questioning counsel's strategy, a belief they had not spent enough time with him, and did not "develop[] a satisfactory defense." DeWise, ¶ 29. This Court reiterated that "a general dissatisfaction with counsel" is insufficient to warrant appointment of new counsel. Id. Noting defense counsels' satisfactory responses to DeWise's complaints and lack evidence of a breakdown in communication or any conflict, this Court affirmed the district court's conclusion that DeWise failed to raise a seemingly substantial concern to warrant new counsel being assigned. DeWise, ¶ 30.

Regarding LaForge's statements about Merchant not being ready for trial, the district court more than adequately addressed that issue with Merchant and LaForge and explained that it would consider a motion to continue if it was filed. LaForge's argument that Merchant "thwarted Mr. LaForge's obvious need for a continuance," is not supported by the record. (Br. at 19.) Notably, LaForge does not assert Merchant was ineffective for not filing a motion to continue.

The district court employed the correct procedures when it inquired into LaForge's complaints and did not abuse its discretion when it determined those claims were not substantial. *Khongwiset*, ¶ 23.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to give a proposed defense jury instruction directing the jury to treat codefendants' testimony with "greater caution" than other witnesses.<sup>4</sup>

The district court provided the jury with several pattern jury instructions that concerned its role in assessing the evidence presented. The court gave Jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The propriety of PDJI-2 was considered twice: jury instruction settlement and LaForge's motion for a new trial. LaForge has not challenged the court's order denying his motion for a new trial pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-702. Thus, the applicable standard of review for this claim is abuse of discretion and whether "the instructions, as a whole, fully and fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case." *Wienke*, ¶ 16.

Instruction No. 5 (JI-5)<sup>5</sup> and Jury Instruction No. 13 (JI-13), Montana Criminal Pattern Jury Instructions (MCPJI) Nos. 1-103 and 1-118 respectively, which explain the jury's responsibility as the sole judge of credibility and determiners of what weight to give evidence. (Apps. 1-2.) The court also gave Jury Instruction No. 16 (JI-15), MCPJI No. 1-112, that provided guidance on considering Fisher's testimony as a person who may be legally accountable for Brett's death. (App. 4.) Additionally, Jury Instruction No. 14 (JI-14), MCPJI No. 1-119, advised the jury that "[e]vidence of an unrecorded oral admission or oral confession of the Defendant should be viewed with caution." (App. 3.)

LaForge proposed the following instruction (as amended):

You have heard testimony from Kristy Alden, Raisha Blacksmith and James Fisher who are co-defendants. Their testimony was given in exchange for promises by the government that they either would not be prosecuted or would receive favorable treatment in their individual cases. Their guilty plea is not evidence against Mr. LaForge and you may consider it only in determining that witness's believability.

For those reasons, in evaluating the testimony of Kristy Alden, Raisha Blacksmith, and James Fisher, you should consider the extent to which their testimony may have been influenced by this factor. In addition, you should examine the testimony of Kristy Alden, Raisha

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>JI-5 does not appear in Doc. 65.03 ("Given Jury Instructions"). However, when settling the jury instructions (*see* JT-3 at 125), the court explained that JI-5 was State's Proposed JI No. 4 (*see* Doc. 48) and had been given with other preliminary instructions prior to opening statements (*see* JT-1 at 96).

Blacksmith, and James Fisher with greater caution than that of other witnesses.

(Docs. 55, 57, 65.02; JT-3 at 128-130.) LaForge adopted this instruction from a Federal Criminal Jury Instruction that had been used in *United States v. Tirouda*, 394 F.3d 383, 687-88 (9th Cir. 2005).<sup>6</sup>

The State opposed the instruction, arguing that: (1) it improperly designated three witnesses as legally accountable, which is a question for the jury; (2) Kristy and Raisha were not accomplices since the actions they were criminally culpable for occurred after the shooting; and (3) the other instructions addressing how to assess the credibility of a witness sufficiently covered possible motives or incentives to testify. (JT-3 at 128-31.)

The district court sustained the State's objection, explaining that

[T]he [c]ourt finds that the concerns expressed in this instruction are already covered by other instructions that pretty thoroughly tell the jury what they are to look at and consider in weighing the testimony of witnesses.

The [c]ourt is also concerned that it would be improper for the Judge to invade the province of the jury by instructing them to view certain witness testimony with greater caution, given that they are, under Montana law, the sole judges of witness credibility.

(JT-3 at 131-32.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On appeal, LaForge abandoned reliance upon *Tirouda*. (Br. at 20-23.)

LaForge argues that the court's ruling was contrary to *State v. Grimes*, 1999 MT 145, 295 Mont. 22, 982 P.2d 1037. (Br. at 20-23.) In Grimes, this Court held that "when a government informant motivated by personal gain rather than some independent law enforcement purpose provides testimony, a cautionary instruction is the more prudent course of action." *Grimes*, ¶ 45 (relying upon Guam v. Dela Rosa, 644 F.2d 1257 (9th Cir. 1980)). This Court explained that if a trial court refuses to give such a cautionary instruction, "the standard of prejudice is whether the testimony was crucial to the State's case in light of other evidence." *Grimes*,  $\P$  46. Although this Court determined that there was no evidence that the witness "was motivated to testify by any 'independent law enforcement purpose," it nonetheless evaluated potential prejudice and found failure to give the preferred instruction was harmless because the witness' "testimony was not crucial to the State's case, and that there was strong evidence from which the jury could have convicted Grimes without it." *Grimes*, ¶¶ 48-49.

LaForge's reliance on *Grimes* is not compelling in light of this Court's subsequent decisions in *State v. DuBray*, 2003 MT 255, ¶¶ 90-93, 317 Mont. 377, 77 P.3d 247, and *State v. Hardy*, 2023 MT 110, ¶¶ 40-47, 412 Mont. 383, 530 P.3d 814. In those cases, the trial courts did not abuse their discretion by refusing proposed defense instructions directing the jury to examine informant testimony "with greater care" when the courts provided pattern witness credibility

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